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INTRODUCTION

1. The Aim of This Thesis

The aim of this thesis is to portray the land use of
Eramosa Townghip and to enquire whether the factors usually
stated to control land use (physical and historical) apply
in this area. In other words, it is to discover how the
land is used and why it is used in this way.

In order to present a systematic study, a description
of the physical landscape will first be given. This will
establish a basis for evaluation of the land use pattern.
Following this will be a discussion of the historical
setting, showing how the land was first used and how this
land use evolved over the years to its present pattern.
Chapters IV and V will be concerned with the present land
use, both rural and urban. In the Conclusion we shall see
how much the physical and historical factors have affected
the present land use pattern,

In the time available for this study it was not
possible to look into all aspects of the land use of
Eramosa. One item most lacking is statistical evidence to

back up some of the statements that are made.

2. 8ize_and Location of Eramosa

Eramosa Township is located in southern Wellington

County in Southern Ontario (see Map 1 on page 2). The
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township is 21 miles by 6 miles in size and has an area
of about 46,000 acres. Neighbouring the township to the
south-west are Puslinch, Guelph, and Nichol Townships, to
the north-west West Garafraxa Township, to the north-east
Erin Township, and to the south-east Nassagaweya Township
in Halton County.

Located within 40 miles of Eramosa (see Map 2 on page
3) are metropolitan Toronto (1961 population of 1,824,000),
metropolitan Hamilton (395,000), metropolitan Kitchener
(155,000), Brantford (55,000), and Guelph (40,000). Thus,
Eramosa has within a short distance an urban population

totalling over 24 million people.

5. Eopulation

In 1961 Eramosa had a population of 3,093, of which
82% were of British ancestry. There were 1,400 people, or
45,3% of the population, living on farms. The remainder
of the population lived in three smell villages along the
Eramosa River, or in new suburben developments that have
sprung up along the main roads. The three villages in the
township are Rockwood (863), Eden Mills (171), and

Everton (80).

4. Transportation

The southern part of the township is traversed by
two, east-west, paved, all-weather provincial highways
(see Maps 2 and 3 on pages 3 and 4). These are Highway 7

which traverses the province from Sarnia in the west %o



Ottawa in the east, and Highway 24 (this has recently
been straightened and repaved in Eramosa) which provides
connections to Guelph and Galt in the west.

The internal road network of Eramosa is also well-
developed (see Map 3 on page 4) with Concession roads
running N.W.-S.E. (called Lines) at approximately 4/5 of a
mile intervals, and N.E.-S.W. roads (called Side Roads) at
approximately 2 mile intervals. For the most part these
are gravel roads maintained by the township, but there is a
rather important paved road (the Fifth Line) running N.W.-
S.E. through Rockwood and Oustic mainteined by the county.

The main line of the C.N.R., running from Sarnia,
through Kitchener and Guelph, to Toronto, crosses the town-
ship in the south. A station at Rockwood provides freight
and passenger service. No other railway lines traverse

the township.



IX

THE PHYSICAL LANDSCATPE

1. Bedrock Geology

(a) Bedrock Stratigraphy

The bedrock of Eramosa consists of Paleozoic dolomites
laid down in the Silurien period. The strata dip approx-
imately 30 feet per mile towards the south-west. Two form-
ations occur: the Lockport and the Guelph dolomites.

The Lockport Formation is a light grey to bluish
dolomite occurring in the southern third of the township.
It is almost entirely covered by thick glacial deposits,
however, there are some spectacular outcrops along the
Eramosa River at Rockwood and Everton.

Underlying the northern two-thirds of Eramosa 1s the
Guelph Formation, consisting of a grey, buff, or brown
dolomite. Unlike the Lockport, this formetion does not
have any outcrops in the township although the bedrock does
come close to the surface in several places (i.e., along
Luttrell's Creek).

An interesting structural feature in the township is
the occurrence of a small anticline at Rockwood. One of the
flanks of this anticline is visible in the abandoned quarry
south of Valley Road.

(b) Bedrock Forms

Along the Eramosa River at Rockwood there are a number
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of caves found in the dolomitic outcrops. Some of these
caves have been described by Weberl who thinks these are
among the most inferesting caves in Ontario. The largest
cave, having a 10 foot high entrance, occurs at the base of
a 50 foot cliff along Valley Road.

In the same area of the caves a number of well-develop-
ed "potholes" occur. The largest of these measuring 18 feet
in diameter and 25 feet deep, is found on the south bank of
the river, and is called locally "The Devil's Pit". On the
north bank of the river, on lend owned by the Grand Valley
Conservation Authority, a number of smaller "potholes" are
found. Some of these have been linked together to form a
present alternate channel for the Eramosa River. Others
occur by themselves and have been partially filled in by
organic debris. Some of these "potholes" seem to be more of
a solution feature than strictly the result of grinding

action.

2. Pleistocene Geology

The unconsolidated Pleistocene deposits of the last
glaciation (Wisconsin) play an important role in determining
the kind and intensity of present land use in Eramosa.
Except where bedrock outcrops, these deposits occur every-
where, however, they vary greatly in compeosition and form,
The Pleistocene Geology of Eramosa has recently been mapped
in detail by P. R. Karrowz and, therefore, the following

discussion of glacial deposits will be based on his work. A
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map of the FPleistocene Geology appears on page 10.

e et v v s

The Pleistocene deposit having the greatest superficial
extent in Eramosa is a buff to pink-buff coloured, silty-
sandy till having a particle size distribution of 15% clay,
30% silt, and 55% sand. This till which occasionally has
gravel and pebbles distributed throughout has been given the
name Wentworth Till by Karrow.

Lying beneath this Wentworth Till is an older till
which forms the core of many of the drumlins, but which
appears at the surface only at two places in the township
(number 2 on the map). This older till shows a particle
size distribution of 55% clay, 25% silt, and 20% sand.

South of the intersection of Highway 24, and the Second
Line, is a small till deposit formed by local ponding during
the later stages of glacial retreat. This deposit has a
greater percentage of silt and clay than of sand.

Next to the tills the most common glacial deposits are
sands and gravels of eskers, kames, and outwash deposits.
Karrow defines kame as irregular accumulations of partly-
sorted glacial debris deposited at the edge of the ice. Out-
wash deposits are carried swey from the edge of the glacier
by vast quantities of meltwater during the melting of the
ice. Outwash gravel and sand are characterized by level to
undulating surfaces marked here and there by stream channels,
while the surface of e kame is usually rough and hummockyz.

The distribution of these sands and gravels can be seen on

11



the map. Sands and gravels of kames and eskers (number 4
on the map) have a tendency to be located south of the
Eramosa River and in the north-eastern section of the town-
ship between stream courses. Outwash gravel tends to have
a greater concentration in the north-east. Kame and outwash
sand (number 7 on the map) tend to be located both along
stream courses and between stream courses.

Scattered throughout the township are swamps and bogs
which represent muck-filled depressions along former stream
courses. Also combinations of sand and silt have been
deposited as modern alluvium where streams have overflowed
their banks.

(b) Distribution of Surface Forms

Pleistocene deposits composed of the same range of
materials do not always take the same surface form. A prime
example of this in Eramosa is Wentworth Till which comprises
hummocky moraine, drumlins, and nearly level till plain.

South of Rockwood, the Wentworth Till tekes the appear-
ance of a hummocky ground moraine. This is an extension of
the Paris loraine which has its greatest extent just to the
south of the township boundary.

However, the majority of the Wentworth Till in the
township forms part of the Guelph Drumlin Field as described
by Chapman and Putnamé. The drumlins of Eramosa are con=-
centrated in an area bounded in the south by Highway 7, in
the east by the Fourth Line, in the north by Side Road 20,

and in the west by the township line. Many of the drumlins

12



here are of the low, broad, oval type, whose gentle slopes
gradually blend into one another. In many cases it is ex-
tremely difficult to pick out a single drumlin in the land-
scape. The general axial alignment of these drumlins is
N.W.-S.E,

There are, however, a few well-formed drumlins in the
township. One of the most obvious straddles the Third Line
immediately south of Highwey 24. This feature has a length
of about four fifths of a mile, a width of 600 yards, and a
height of 75 feet. This drumlin is exceptional in the town-
ship as the majority of the drumlins do not rise much above
30 feet.

The remeining areas of Wentworth Till take the form of
gently rolling or nearly level till plain with occasional
signs of fluting.

The kame deposits, which are principally formed of
gravel and sand in Eramosa, exhibit the roughest topography
found in the township. Outwash deposits, on the other hand,
have relatively gentle slopes. The outwash gravels and
sands are primarily found along former glacial spillway
channels.

There is one small esker found in the township. It can
be seen on the Pleistocene Geology map if a line is drawn
due westward from the C.N.R. tracks running from Crewson's
Corners to Rockwood. The esker has a length of about 3%
miles in the township. Sections of it are not too easily

noticed on the ground, while other sections show the classic

13



esker form,

Winding among the Pleistocene deposits of Eramosa are
former spillway channels. All of the present day streams
flow in these channels, and where there is no permanent
stream flowing, the remnant channel is often swampy. The
channels of the Eramosa and Speed Rivers are often picked
as prime examples of a spillway in southern Ontario. Along
their banks two or more terraces are often found in the out-
wash gravel deposits, indicating changes in the base level
of the glacial lakes during the retreat of the Wisconsin

glacier.

5. Soils
A complete and detailed description of the soils in
Eramosa Township has recently been published in the Soil

Survey of Wellington County, therefore I will base my

description on soils only as they relate to land use, in
this case, whether the soils are good for agriculture or
not.

On page 15 there is a soil map showing the distribution
of the various soil types in the township. In the legend
the soils are arranged in their respective soil catenas. A
soll catena is defined as soils that have developed on
similar parent material but differ in the characteristics
of the solum as a result of differences in drainage5.

(a) Description of Soils by Crop Ratings

In the Soil Survey of Wellington Cou.nty6 there is a

14
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chart rating soils according to their suitaebility for
different crops. This has been done assuming that normal
farm practices are carried out on these soils. It is
recognized that there are differences in the characteristics
of some of the soils in one group, but these characteristics
have only a slight effect on the ability of the soil to pro-
duce crops. A map showing the distribution of these soils
according to type of cropland is found on page 16, and a
chart showing the suitability of each soil for a crop is
found in Appendix I.

(1) Good_Cropland

The soils in this grouping give higher than average
yields, and are adaptable to a greater variety of crops.
They are well-drained and have an i1deal texture with few
stones. The one drawback of these soils 1s the tendency for
surface erosion to occur on the steeper slopes, especially
during periods of high water runoff. The Harriston and Guelph
loams are among the most productive and fertile soils in
southern Ontario.

(1i) Good to Feir Cropland

These soils all have certain limitations in crop pro-
duction which make them less suitable and less productive
than the previous group. Soil fertility is somewhat of a
problem so frequent uses of fertilizers are required to keep
yields up. The London and Perth loams are imperfectly
drained and require artificial drainage to meke them more

productive. The Caledon fine sandy loam and Burford loam

17



are well drained but have only a moderate water holding
capacity due to the coarseness of the underlying parent
material. The Burford loam is further handicapped by gravel,
stones, and cobbles which usually occur throughout the pro-
file, but rarely inhibit cultivation.

(iii) Pair Cropland

The soils in this group are faced with limitations in
crop production because of coarse texture, susceptibility
to erosion, stoniness, and relatively low natural fertility.
The coarse texture of the Fox sandy loam and the Hillsburgh
fine sandy loam results in these soils having low moisture
holding capacities and are susceptible to erosion because
of rapid runoff of rain water. The Dumfries loam has stones
throughout its profile which must be removed before cult-
ivation is possible. Like the Hillsburgh soils, the Dumf-
ries loam also is very susceptible to erosion on cultivated

hummocks.,

(iv) Fair_ to_Poor Cropland

Generally the characteristics of these soils limit
their suitability to a few crops or to agricultural uses
that do not require cultivation (i.e., pasture). All of
these soils are of low natural fertility. Parkhill loam,
Brisbane loam, Brady sandy loam, and Killean loam are all
inadequately drained as they usually occur in depressional
areas with a high water table. Killean loam also has stones
throughout its profile. Donnybrook sandy loam is an exces=-

sively drained, gravelly soil occupying hills and ridges,

18



end is the only soil in this group which has an erosion
problemn.

(v) Poor Cropland

The characteristics of these soils pretty well 1limit
their use to grazing or to forestry. They are all poorly
drained, occurring in depressional areas. Erosion is not
a hazard, but they are all low in natural fertility.

(vi) Submarginal Soils

These soils are not suitable for use as agricultural
lend because of poor drainage, or stoniness and shallowness.
Muck consist of orgenic deposits that have accumulated in
swampy depressions, and Bottom Land are soils that occur
on variable textured alluvial deposits in river and creek
beds that are subject to periodic flooding. TFarmington loam
is & shallow soil developed on loamy till that has a depth
of less than one foot over underlying limestone bedrock.

(b) Relationship of Crop Ratings to Physiography

The physiography of an area plays an important part in
determining the type of soll that may be formed. Basically
in Eramosa there are four physiographic types: till plains,
kames, outwash, and spillway channels. ZEach of these broad-
ly effects the land use capability of the soils.

Except for the morainic area in the south the best
soils of the township are found on the tills because the
parent material is not coarse and stony and is relavively
well drained.

The Good to Fair, Fair, and Fair to Poor Cropland has

19



its greatest distribution on the kames and outwash which
appear in the south and in the north-east sections of the
township. Here the materials are coarser presenting a
greater erosion hazard on the slopes and a lower natural
fertility.

The poorest agricultural soils in the township occur
in the poorly drained depressions along former spillway
channels. liost of this poorer land is still forested or

is used for grazing.

4. Climate

There is no meteorological station in Eramosa Township,
therefore this section will be based on the climatic sta-
tistics for Guelph which lies just a few miles to the west,
and the climatic maps of Putnam and Chapman7. The climatic
data for Guelph is found in Appendix II.

The climate of Eramosa is generally described as humid
continental with warm summers and cold winters. The
climatic controls in the township can be briefly stated to
be (1) the prevalence of a westerly wind from the direction
of Lake Huron, 70 miles away, (2) the relatively high eleva-
tions of the township (1,125 feet in the south and 1,450
feet in the north-east) for southern Ontario, and (3) the
changeability of weather patterns with the alternate passing
of highs from the north-west and lows from the south-west.

() Temperature

The yearly mean temperature at Guelph is 440 F., with

20



the coldest month being February at 180 F., and July the
warmest month at 680 F.

Precipitation is pretty well even throughout the year
averaging 30", but there is a slight summer maximum. The
two wettest wmonths are July and August with 3.07" end 2.86"
of precipitation, and the two driest months are February and
March with 1.74" and 1.79" (most of which falls in the form
of snow). Precipitation is quite adequate for cultivation
although there i1s a tendency for more potential evapotrans-
piration than actual precipitation in late summer. Snow-
fall averages just over 50 inches per year.

(c¢) Length of Growing Season

Of vital importance to agriculture is the length of the
growing season, which is defined as the interval in days be-
tween the last killing frost in spring and the first kill-
ing frost in fall. The data for the length of the growing
season is teken from the climatic maps appearing in Putnam

and Chapmen's article The Climate of Southern Ontario.

In the southern-most part of Eramosa the growing season
begins about April 16th and ends about October 27th, while
in the north it begins about April 19th and ends about
October 23rd. This averages out to approximately a 187 day
growing season in the north and a 196 day growing season in
the south. The average length of frost free period ranges
from 133 days along the southern boundary to 126 days along

the northern boundary.
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Eramosa Township lies just on the southern boundary of
the Huron-Ontario Section of the Great Lakes - St. Lawrence

Forest Region, (according to J.S. Rowe in Forest Regions_of

Canada). Essentially this is a mixed forest vegetation.
Samuel Ryckmen, who surveyed the township in 1819 be-
fore any settlement took plece, found mostly beech, elm,
maple and basswood on the well drained sites, and cedar,
black ash, tamerack, elder, and elm on the poorly drained
sites. At present a great deal of the original forest
cover has been cut down, but 18% of the township is still

forested, much of which is regrowth.

The Speed Conservation Report breaks the remaining

woodland into 14 different forest cover types. A table of
their composition can be found in Appendix III.

White Cedar occupies 2,850 acres or 33% of the remain-
ing forest cover. This tree is found in the spillway
channels with poor drainage and high water table, and
serves as the chief source of fence posts and poles in the
township.

The next largest forest cover type is aspen which
occupies 2,264 acres or 26.3% of the remaining forest. Aspen
will grow on any site except in the wettest swamps, and is
typically a pioneer species which often follows overgraz-
ing or fire.

Sugar maple (790 acres or 9.2%) comes next. Sugar maple

in combination with beech once covered a larger part of the

22



well-drained, loamy, fertile soils of the township, but a
great deal of this was cut down when the land was cleared
for agriculture. A great many of the beech trees were then
cut down for use as poles or firewood, leaving almost pure
sugar maple stands.

The wettest soils of the township are occupied by the
black ash - white elm - red maple combination (8.0%), and
white elm. These cover types are found in the spillways or
in small depresgssions and swamps.

In summing up this section, the majority of uncleared
land (about 70%) is found in the spillway channels of the
Speed and Eramosa Rivers and their tributaries. The orig-
inal forest cover on the well-drained land has largely been

cleared to make way for agriculture or urban settlement.

6. Natural Drainage

The major streams in Eramosa follow the general south-
western dip of the topography. The two main rivers are the
Speed and the Eramosa, with Luttrell's Creek being an
important tributary of the Speed.

Although both the Speed and the Eramosa Rivers occupy
former glacial spillway channels, they have completely
different characteristics. In many places along the Eramosa
River bedrock outcrops to form spectacular cliffs of up to
50 feet in height. The Speed River, on the other hand,
exhibits no bedrock outcrops, but flows in a wide flat-

bottomed cheannel.
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The tributaries of these rivers are not well developed.
They wander lazily through the low lying areas and a few
swanpy depressions.

The Speed and Eramosa Rivers meet at Guelph and join

the south-flowing Grand River at Preston.

The surface features of Eramosa Township are com=-
posed of glacial deposits underlain by dolomitic limestone.
These deposits include kemes and outwash located chiefly in
the south and in the north-east, with till deposits between
them. Former spillways form interconnecting channels
through these deposits. The better soils tend to be located
on the tills with less fertile soils located on the sands
and gravels of the kemes and outwash deposits. The climate
is humid continental with warm summers and cold winters.
The natural vegetation is mixed forest, but most of the well-
drained land has been cleared for agriculture, leaving the
majority of remaining woodland in the poorly dreained spill-
way channels. Two main rivers, the Speed and the Eramosa,

cross the township flowing towards the south-west.
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Lockport dolomitic outerop at

25

ed flank of an anticline at Rockwood.
ds the North-east.

Rockwood.

LAae

o



3. This cave found along Valley Road at Rockwood heas
an entrance over 10 feet in heigh

ct
-

o

4, A cliff of massive Lockport dolomite along Valley

Road.
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5. A partially filled pothole at the Grand Valley
Conservation Authority Park at Rockwood.

6. Potholes which have been linked together to form an
alternate channel for the Eramosa River at Rockwood.
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cession 5.

8. Outwash sand and gravel deposit found at Lot 32w,
Concession 7.



-

9. Deposit of Wentworth Till found at Lot 32E%, Con-
cession 3.

10. Topography typical of Weptworth Till with a long,
low drumlin in the background.



11. Smooth topography of the Wentworth Till at Lot 20,
Concession 3.

12, Hummocky moraine found on the Wentworth Till at Lot 1,
Concession 3.
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13, Hummocky kame topography found at Lot 1Wg, Con-
cession 5.

14. Terrace (in the background) formed in outwash gravel
along the south side of Luttrell's Creek at the
Fifth Line.



15. Hummocky kame topography found at Lot 3Wj, Con-
cession 6.

16. Hummocky topography of kame and outwash gravel depos-
its found at Lot 32Ws, Concession 7.



17. Soil profile of Guelph loam, one of the best soils
in the township, found at Lot 21W3, Concession 5.
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18, So0il profile of Hillsburgh fine sandy loam found at
Lot 31E%}, Concession 5.

"




19. Profile of Farmington loam at Lot GW%, Concesgsion 4.
Note the limestone bedrock which comes very close to

the surface.

20. A stand of predominantly sugar maple, white elm, and
aspen on well-drained Wentworth Till, found at
Lot 24Ez, Concession 2.
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22.

llassive dolomite cliff found bordering the Eramosa
River in the Fourth Concession.

Forested dolomitic outerops along the Eramosa River

in the

Fourth Concession.
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23. The wide g
Lot 21W:

)

ravelly stream bed of the Speed River at
Concession 1.

24, The slow flowing Speed River in the Sixth Concession.
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ITI
THE HISTORICAL SETTING

The chief sources of information for this chapter are

Frank Day's Here and There in Eramosa, Hazel lack's History

of Eden Mills and Vicinity, the County of Wellington Histor-

e e et

and the Census_of Canada 1851 - 1961.

1. Pre-settlement - Before 1820

(a) Before 1819

As fer as we know, the territory which is now Eramosa
Township, was not the site of any permanent settlement
before 1819. The township was, however, part of the hunting
grounds of the lMississaga Indians.

In 1792, on the orders of the Governor of Upper Canada,
John Graves Simcoe, a line was surveyed beginning at Burl-
ington on Lake Ontario and running due north-west back of
the lake to where the Town of Arthur now standsl. This
Base Line, as it wes called, was to separate the recently
purchased government land west of the line from the terri-
tory of the Mississagas to the east. A section of the Base
Line was soon to become the south-west boundary of Eramosa
Township. In 1818 a large tract of land (648,000 acres)
was surrendered to the government by the llississaga Indians.
Included in this trect was the territory of Eramosa Town-

, B
ship .
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(b) The Township Survey-1819

In the summer of 1819 the government set out to survey
its recently purchased land. To Eramosa came the Deputy
Surveyor of Upper Canada, Samuel Ryckman, who laid out the
present boundaries of the township in that year. The name
Eramosa came into existance at this time. It is believed
to come from the Indian word "un-ne-mo-sah" meaning "dog"s.

The township was divided into seven concession blocks
with 32 lots in each. ZEach lot in a concession was approx-
imately 200 acres in size. Road allowances were laid out at
the same time. Fortunately the concession lines run parallel
to the general trend of the drumlins (N.W.-S.E.) making the
slopes easier to cultivate on the contour.

In his Field Book of the Survey of_ the Township of

Bramosa, Samuel Ryckman left a record of what the township
was like before settlement took place. Besides the actual
survey figures, Ryckman gives a brief description of the

type of land and vegetation found on each lot.

2. Early Settlement 1820-1850

(a) The First_Settlers

The three Ramsey brothers were the first settlers in
Eramosa Township. They were from northern Ireland and they
came to Upper Canada in 1819 after having lived in the United
States for a few years. They were each given 100 acre lots
at the southern end of the Third Concession, and in 1820

they started to clear this land. They built a small

48


http:Rye.km.an

shelter and cleared a patch of land on which they raised
the first crop of potatoes in Wellington County4. In 1821
a few more settlers trickled into the township to take up
land.

For the first few decades or so the land in the town-
ship was given away free to any person who would claim it
and perform a few simple settlement duties. A large portion
of the land was given to officers and to United Empire
Loyalists who held the land for speculation. Also 1/7 of
the land was given over to Clergy Reserves and 1/7 to Crown
Reserves. Eventually the Crown Reserves were sold to the
Canada Company for settlement.

With large blocks of land held for future use, settle-
ment in the township proceeded slowly, with the first
settlers being Scottish, Irish, English, and Quakers fron
the United States.

In 1826, it is recorded that there were 27 households
and a total population of 112. There were only 221 acres
under cultivation, and the settlers owned 4 horses, 17 oxXen
and 51 cowss. As can be seen from these figures the first
few years were taken up with the clearing of the land.

(b) Settlement from 1827-1840

During this period the settlement growth was still
slow, but was gaining momentum by the late 1830's. In
1829 there were 49 households and in 1840 this had in-
creased to 87, with a total population of 8626.

By 1840 the population was composed of more recent
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immigrents from the British Isles, chiefly from northern
Ireland, the Highlands of Scotland, and from England. A
number of settlers also came from Susquehanna County in
Pennsgylvania, being of English and Scottish stookv.

Settlers came from two main directions at this time,
from the south and from the west. Prior to 1832 the south-
ern access route was the Guelph Road from Burlington to
what is now Rockwood. In 1832, the York Road was bullt
from Toronto to Guelph passing through the southern part of
the township. This route became another entry for settlers
coming to Eramosa. From the direction of Guelph (founded in
1827 by the head of the Canada Company, John Galt) and Galt,
the western access route entered the township at about Lot
20. Thus, the first areass of the township settled were in
the south, and in the west along the Second Line.

It is difficult to know exactly what the economy of
the township was like during this period as few records are
in existence. Probably it was similar to the surrounding
townships where a non-commercial type of agriculture was
gtill prevalent, as the land was still largely being cleared
of trees and stumps, and being prepared for more intensive
cultivation. Wheat was quite likely the most important
cash crop.

Unlike other areas of southern Ontario, lumbering for
export did not become important in Eramosa chiefly for two
reasons. In the first place most of the trees were hard-

wocds and thus unsuitable for the square timber trade where
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white pine was in demand. Secondly, the river systems

flowed in the wrong direction. In order to get to the

great exporting centre of Montreael, timber had to float

down the Speed to the Grand River and then down to Lake

Erie where it had to make a long journey through the Great
Lakes.8 However, the making of potash from the trees was

an important second industry on many farms during this period.

(e¢) Settlement from 1840-1848

This decade of settlement is characterized by a rapid
acceleration of population growth and of land clearing.

This fact can be seen by comparing the results of the Census
of 1842 and of 1848 (which can be found, along with later
Census meterial, in Appendix IV). In 1842 the population
was 1,269 (an increase of 400 since 1840) and in 1848 this
had risen to 1,970. The new settlers were also chiefly

from the British Isles, and they entered the ftownship by

the same routes as the earlier settlers. In most cases the
land was bought from the Crown, the Canada Company, and from
speculators who were now selling their land.

From 1842 to 1848 the area of land occupied increased
by 35%, from 24,445 acres to 32,146 acres. The land under
crops still remained fairly low (5,898 acres in 1842 and
8,645 acres in 1848) but it was increasing steadily.

The chief grain crop in 1842 was oats with 22,973 bu.
being produced, followed by wheat with 9,297 bu. Six years
later, wheat was the leading grain crop with 59,701 bu. (a

600% increase), while oats was second with 35,971 bu.
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(a 50% increase). The great increase in wheat production
can probebly be explained by the passing of the Canada Corn
Act by the British Parliament in 1843, which allowed almost
free entry of wheat into the protected British marketg. Oats
was a traditional food crop of the Scottish settlers,
besides being the chief fodder crop for the livestock.

Potatoes, during this time, had a widespread acreage as
it was the traditional food crop of the Irish settlers.
Production of potatoes fell from 17,708 bu. in 1842 to
12,644 bu. in 1848, probably because many farmers were
changing production to wheat to cash in on the boom.

The livestock kept by the farmers consisted chiefly of
meat cattle, hogs, and sheep. Generally the livestock was
of very poor quality at this time. The fairly large number
of sheep (2,370 in 1842 and 2,461 in 1848) was due to the
fact that it was a traditional animel with meny of the Scot-
tish and northern English immigrants. There was also a
growing demand for wool as seen by the establishment of a
woollen or carding mill at Rockwood by 1850.

(d) Beginnings of Urban Settlements

In the 1840's small urban hamlets (urban in this sense
means non-farm) were established to serve the surrounding
farm areas. All of these hamlets were mill sites on the
Eramosa River.

The settlement at Rockwood was first called Brothers-

town after the Quakers who settled the area in the 182053,
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and built a church in 1832. In the 1840's the name was
changed to Strange's iillls, after Squire Strange, who built
a saw and grist mill beside the Eramosa River. The name of
Rockwood did not come into use until the 1850's and is
probably derived from the masses of limestone rocks and
trees in the area. The settlement in the 1840's soon became
a bustling place and by 1850 hed 2 grist mills, a saw mill,
a carding mill, a school, 2 churches, and 2 taverns.

In an ares largely settled by Presbyterian Scots, a
wooden saw and grist mill was built by the Krib brothers in
1842, on Lot 1 of the Second Concession. Originally called
Krib's Mills the name was changed to Eden Mills in 1846.

It soon became a little settlement, and sometime before
1850, the first store in the township was opened here.

(iii) Everton

Little is known of Everton before 1850, except that a
sew mill was established beside the Eramosa River and was
operated by the Evert family. The area surrounding Everton
was chiefly settled by Highland Scots who belonged to the
religious sect known as the Disciples of Christ, and by
Irish Catholics.

(e) The Township in 1850

In 1850 a map of Eramosa was published by the Advertiser
Office at Guelph showing the land which had been settled
up to that time, and also the various commercial and manu-

facturing sites. This map was reprinted in Here and There
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on this map to illustrate what the township was like at that
time. As can be seen from Map 8 on page 45, the north-east
section of the township is still largely uninhabited. Two
reasgsons for this could be that it is furthest from the main
entry points, and has the poorer agricultural land (see maps
in Chapter II).

The township in 1850 had 5 schools, 6 churches, 5 saw
mills, 2 carding mills, 2 stores, 4 blacksmith shops, 4
taverns, 1 tannery and 3 grist mills., From Map 9 on page 46
it can be seen that these are located in the southern and
western parts of the township where the majority of the people
live. Except for one saw mill, all the mills are located on
the Eramosa River. The saw mills were all small, providing
lumber for the local construction of buildings going on at

this time.

3. Era of Consolidation 1851-1891

(a) Period of Prosperity 1851-1871

In the 20 year period from 1851 to 1871, Eramosa had
a period of prosperity of which she is only now beginning
to experience again. The rapid population growth of the
1840's continued throughout the 1850's so that by 1861
there were 3,604 people. Population growth slowed down in
the 1860's but in 1871 Eramosa reached its highest population
level.

The prosperity of this period resulted from a combination
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of factors. One of these was the building of the Grand
Trunk Railway (now the C.N.R.) from Toronto to Sarnia,
passing through the southern part of Eramosa, in 1855. A
railway station was established at Rockwood, enabling the
township to have improved connections with the province's
largest urban market at Toronto.

Another important factor increasing prosperity was the
Reciprocity Treaty with the United States, which allowed
free entry into the American market of Canadian raw products,
from 1854-1866. Last, but not least of the factors in this
surge of prosperity, was that the residents of southern
Ontario began to have confidence in themselves, feeling
that they had finally arrived on the world scene. There was
a prevailing mood of optimism in the country.

This period of prosperity is seen in the changing
land use of Ereamosa. In 1851, Eramosa could still be con-
sidered a backwoods or pioneer community, but this was not
the case in 1871. This change can be seen in the Census
records for this period found in Appendix IV and in the
graphs on the following pages.

From 1851 to 1871 the amount of land occupied did not
change drastically, although it rose from 36,605 acres to
43,386 acres with the settling of the north-eastern section
of the township. The point to note is that the total amount
of improved land nearly doubled (16,241 acres to 28,862 acres)
while the total amount of land under crops more than doubled

(10,935 acres to 21,469 acres). These figures show that
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the land was rapidly being cleared of trees in order to be
put to agricultural use.

Wheat remained the most important cash crop during this
period (4,538 acres in 1871) as there was a good market
in the United States for this product. Oats remained the
second most valuable grain crop, serving largely as fodder
for the livestock. As can be seen from the Census data,
peas and root crops (chiefly turnips) were important through-
out this period. Peas were used as a fodder crop (especially
for hogs) at this time in southern Ontario and was grown
in a crop rotation with grains. Turnips, also grown for
fodder, formed a more importent crop in Eramosea than in
neighbouring townships because a waxing plent at Rockwood
exported turnips to the United States.

The Census records do not give information on the
number of livestock in the township throughout this period.
However, cattle, sheep and hogs were fairly important in the
farm economy and there was probably a great rise in the
number of horses in order to cope with an increasing amount
of farm work done in the township.

(b) Urban Development by 1871

In 1871 Lovell's Directory, giving information on many
of the small urban centres of the province, was published.

Much of this information has been reprinted in Here_and There

in Eramosa. It must be remembered that these rural hamlets
were much more important to the surrounding farm communities

than at the present time.
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Rockwood in 1871 was the largest centre in the town-
ship with & population of about 600. The village, located
on a maein road and railway connecting Guelph and Toronto,
contained grist, saw, and oatmeal mills, & large woollen
factory, a stove factory, limestone quarries, and a Montreal
Telegraph Co. office.lo It was also the site of the Rockwood
Academy which was founded in 1833 and was an important
private school for boys in the province.

(ii) Eden lills

The population of Eden Mills in 1871 was about 300.
The village had expanded into neighbouring Nassagaweya Town-
ship but more than half the population lived in Eramosa Town-
ship. The centre of the village was the saw mill and the
flour mill, but listed in its population were 4 shoemakers,
3 blacksmiths, 2 cabinet makers, 1 doctor, 1 cooper, 1 hotel
keeper, 1 tailor, 1 pumpmaker, 1 weaver, and 1 postmaster.

In 1871 Everton had a population of 250 with 3 churches,
2 hotels, 3 blacksmith shops, a grocery store, tailor's
shop, implement agency, cabinet maker's shop, carding mill,
cooper's shop, stove factory, potash plant, along with flour,
feed and saw mills. :

(1v) OQustic

Qustic was established at the intersection of the Fifth
Line (the main road from Rockwood to Fergus) and Side Road 25,

sometime in the period between 1851 and 1871. In 1871 there
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was a population of 25 with a blacksmith, weaver, boot and
shoemaker, hotel keeper, postmaster and merchant, and a
pumpmeker listed as residents.15

(v) Other Centres

There were a number of other small centres in Eramosa.
Along Luttrell's Creek in the Third Concession a grist mill
was established and became a small hamlet known as Birge
Mills. Similarly a small hamlet called Shiloh was estab-
lished with the building of a saw mill in 1865 on the Speed
River in the Sixth Concession. Small centres were also
established at Speedside and Crewson's Corners.

(c) Beginning of the Decline of Population 1871-1891

In the year 1871 the population of Eramosa was at its
peak. After 1871 it started to decline and did not stop
declining until the Census of 1951. Even though the popu-
lation declined the amount of land cleared for cultivation
increased until 1891.

The year 1891 saw the township reach its peak in the
amount of land occupied (44,867 acres), the amount of im-
proved land (37,150 acres), and the amount of land under
crops (30,278 acres). Yet this was a time when there were
600 fewer people on the land than in 1871l. One of the reasons
for this was the fact that new labour saving devices were
beginning to be introduced on the farms, releasing labour
for other jobs. Some of the people moved to the cities to
get jobs in the factories, or they moved to the new farm

lands that were being opened up in Western Canada by the
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completion of the C.P.R. in 1886.

The same type of crops were grown in 1891 as in 1871,
but oats (6,863 acres) had now replaced wheat (2,624 acres)
as the chief grain crop of the township. Wheat declined in
importance because it could not compete either in price or
in queality with the prairie wheatlands which had just been
opened up for settlement. Oats increased in acreage in order
to provide fodder for the increasing number of livestock on
Eramosa farms. Eramosa at this time was beginning to turn
away from being a cash crop farming area (because its chierf
cash crop, wheat, could no longer compete), to a livestock
ralsing area serving the growing urban market of southern
Ontario. ©Sheep remained feirly importent at this time, pro-
viding wool for the woollen factory at Rockwood. Barley had
its greatest acreage in the township at this time primarily
in response to a growing number of breweries in southern
Ontario. Barley was also exported to breweries in the

United E*ﬂl:ad:es.lLL

4. The Modern Era 1891-1951

Although this period covers a span of 60 years, coming
right up to the present, it can be treated as a whole be-
ceause of & similer pattern of development. 41t was in the
1890's that the changes to the present land use pattern had
its beginnings. <These changes will be discussed under two
headings: (a) Changes in rural land use, and (b) changes in

urban land use.
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(a) Changes_in Rural Land Use

Throughout this 60 year span the population decline,
which started in the 1870's, continued, reaching the low
point in 1941, before starting to climb again. The 1941
population of 2,287 was only 74% of the total population
recorded in 1871. The period of greatest decline were the
decades before World Wer I. This was a time of intensive
settlement of western Canada, rapid rise in urban popu-
lation, and of rapid farm mechanization releasing labour
for other jobs. The smaller farm units were becoming less
economical, and larger and larger farm units came to take
their place resulting in a decrease in the total number of
occupiers of land.

After 1891 there is a gradual decrease in the acreage
of improved land and land under crops. This decrease 1is
simply the reflection of farmers giving up trying to farm
the poorer quality land in the township. At the same time
there is noted in the Census a gradual increase in the
amount of land under forest.

Wheat acreage continued to decline in the first part of
this period, as it was not able to compete with western
grains. The Census after 1931 show an increase in wheat
acreage. This increase in the 1930's and 1940's is a re-
flection of Eramosa farmers teking advantage of crop failures
out west during the depression and dust bowl days, and of the
demand for wheat during World War II.

The production of peas and root crops shows a serious
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decline throughout this period. This was part of a trend
which saw these crops being replaced by grains as feed for
livestock. The decline of pea production was also due to
the pea weavil blight in the 1890's. The acreage of root
crops was somewhat kept up by the presence of a turnip wax-
ing plant in Rockwood. When the weaxing plant went out of
business in the 1940's, the acreage in turnips decreased
faster than before.

The increasing popularity of mixed grains is seen
throughout this period. Iixed grains is a term used to de-
note the growing of oats and barley together in the same
field. In the case of Eramosa, oats is always the dominant
grain of the two. This fact helps to explain the apparent
decrease in the acreage of oats throughout this period.
Oats really did not decline but came to be grown more and
more with barley as a mixed grain.

Throughout this period can be noted the sharp decline
of wheat, while crops used as fodder in livestock production
(i.e., oats, hay, pasture) held fairly steady acreages at a
time when a good deal of land was going out of production.
This was a reflection of the changing of Eramosa from a cash
crop farming area to a livestock raising area. This live-
stock increase was in response to a growing urban market's
demand for dairy products such as milk and butter, poultry
products, and meat products such as beef and pork. As a
result there was an increase in the number of cattle, the

number of hogs and the number of poultry throughout this
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period.

The main trend in the land use of this 60 years is the
gradual change in the farm economy from crop to livestock
production, (as wheat could no longer coupete with that from
western Caneada), in order to take advantage of the closeness
to growing urban markets.

(b) Changes_in Urban Land_Use

The small urban hamlets also lost population during
this period. Such communities as Oustic, Shiloh, Speedside,
and Crewson's Corners, by the end of this period had declin-
ed so much that one would never suspect they were once pros-
perous little hamlets. The larger centres of Eden Mills and
Everton lost all their industries, except for the mills.

The reason for this decline was that the swall village
plants and workshops could no longer compete with the newer
large scale manufacturing industries growing up in the larger
towns and cities. With the depopulation of the surrounding
countryside their markets were also severely cut. The
growth of mail-order business and the introduction of faster
means of transport to larger centres, also brought on a re-
duction in the amount of local retail trade. Feople put out
of work in these small centres by the above factors tended
to go to the larger centres themselves, thus increasing the
dominance of the larger centres over the countryside.

Rockwood was the one village in Eramosa which did not
lose population, as its number remained steady at about 600

over the greater part of this period. There are a number
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of reasons for this lack of decline. First of all, and
probably most significant was that it was on the main trans-
portation routes. It had a station on a main line of the
C.N.R., and in 1927, Highway 7 was built through the village
providing an excellent paved highway to Guelph in the west
and Toronto in the east. Perhaps of less significance 1is
that Rockwood is the governmental centre for the township.
The grist mill and the quarry remained active throughout this
period but the woollen mill ceased operations in the 1920's

and the turnip plant folded in the 1940's.

Eramosa Township was surveyed in 1819 and settlement
began in 1820. Population growth was slow at first but in-
creased rapidly after 1840, reaching its peak in 1871 and
then declined. Cash crops, perticularly wheat, were im-
portant in the township until the opening of the Canadian
west in the 1880's, and then declined in importance, being
replaced by livestock farming. Mill sites wére the basis
for village settlements which reached a peak in the 1870's

and then declined in population.
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25. The o0ld water powered grist mill at Eden Mills which
is now used as a saw mill.

26. This abandoned woollen mill at Rockwood was the town-
ship's most important manufacturing industry in the
late 19th century.
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27. Now a National Historic Site this large limestone
building housed Rockwood Academy, which was one of

the finest private boys' schools in Ontario from
1853 - 1883.

28. One of the first industries in Rockwood was this
feed mill, which is still operating today on water
power.
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29, This o0ld frame building housed a saw mill at
Everton.

: ] A G LA asy
30, Practically all that remains of Shiloh is this
abandoned school which was built in 1872.
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PRESENT RURAL LAND USE

1. The Use of the Land

The land use of Eramosa Township in 1963, can be seen
on a land use map found on page 64. This map was compiled
by the author in September 1963 by traversing the entire
township and recording the use of each field on a sheet of
acetate overlying an air photograph mosaic with a scale of
one inch to the mile. However, because of the limitations
of scale on a map this size certain detail had to be left
out. For instance farm yards and cemeteries were not mapped,
but these deleted details do not affect greatly the overall
pattern of land use as seen on the map.

This category includes wheat (both winter and summer
varieties), oats, barley and rye. The small grains have
their greatest occurrence on the better soils of the town-
ship, principally the Guelph and Harriston loams. According
to the 1961 Census oats is the leading small grain with
4,768 acres or 24% of the total land under crops. Not far
behind with 4,092 acres is mixed grains, which is oats and
barley sown together in the same field. In 1951 mixed grains
was the leading crop with 7,504 acres while oats was second
with only 2,433 acres. This might seem to be a major shift
in crops but this is not the case. It just means that more

Tfarmers are now tending to grow oats by itself instead of it
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being mixed in with barley.

Wheat was the third most important grain crop in 1961
with 954 acres, followed by barley with 186 acres and rye
with 34 acres. The acreage of wheat has varied greatly from
year to year, while that of barley has shown a steady decline
since the 1890's. Rye has always been a minor grain crop in
Eramosa, probably becadse it has never been a traditional
crop with the farmers and because there is no great demand
for rye on the market.

The vast majority of the small grain crop is used as
fodder to feed the farmer's livestock. Very little of it
is grown as a cash crop.

(b) Corn

In 1961 there were 1,007 acres of corn grown in the
township. This was the greatest acreage of corn grown in
one year in Eramosa up to that time and quite likely the
1963 acreage is still higher. In the past Eramosa has not
been climatically suited for growing corn, but now, with the
new varieties of quick growing hybrids, this is no longer
true. Farmers have begun to switch to corn, not because it
is a better feed for livestock than hey or other grains, but
because a much greater tonnage per acre can be harvested
than any other grain crop. In many cases it can double the
carrying capacity of livestock for a farm.

Corn has a widespread distribution in Eramosa but
there is a tendency for it to be located on the well-drained,

fertile, gently rolling till soils. The vast majority of
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the corn is grown for ensilage. The new popularity of this
crop is evidenced by an increasing number of silos that have
been built in the past few years.

(c) Hay

Hay is the crop with the largest acreage in the town-
ship, having occupied first place ever since records were
kept. In 1961 there were 8,259 acres or 42% of the total
cropland devoted to hay production. This category of hay
includes alfalfa, clover, timothy, bromegrass, and birdsfoot
trefoil. Hay has a widespread distribution throughout the
township, tending to be grown on slightly poorer soils than
the small grains or corn.

A hay field is usually kept in production for about 3
years (although it is sometimes as great as 7 or 8 years)
before it is plowed up and reseeded. At least 2 hay crops
and sometimes 3 are taken off a field each year.

(d) Basture

Pasture, in this classification, includes both perm-
anent pasture and pasture which is in rotation with other
crops. Often it was difficult to determine if a field was a
pasture or an old hay field. In cases such as this the field
was classified as pasture. In 1961 there were 8,927 acres
or 22% of all occupied land classed as pasture by the Census.
This compares to only 6,218 acres or 15% of all occupied
land in 1951. Therefore pastureland has shown a signif-
icant increase in the past 10 years. The reason for this

increase is that the poorer cropland has been pulled out of
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production and has been given over to pasture.

Pasture is found on all types of soil but is most
common on the poorer grades of cleared land. Thus,pasture
has a greater density in the south-eastern corner and in the
north-eastern quarter of the township as this is where there
is a greater concentiration of poorer quality land.

(e) Other Crops

This category was established to cover crops which do
not have great enough acreage in the township to form a
separate category. These crops include potatoes, root crops,
orchards, nursery crops,‘vegetables and strewberries.

In 1961 potatoes occupied only 70 acres in the township,
this being the smallest acreage in that crop since records
were kept. The production of potatoes has dropped because
it can not profitably compete with the large scale production
found on the sandy soils to the north-east of the township.
Other root crops, such as turnips, are grown only in very
small quantities at the present time.

The orchards are in all cases old apple orchards, of
about an acre in size, that are located next to the farm
yard on many of the farms of the township. These old orch-
ards have a wide distribution in the township with the
majority of them not being properly cared for. Apples are
still picked from some of these trees for home consumption,
but often they are wormy for lack of attention. Some of
these o0ld orchards are being used as pasture fields.

In the township there are 3 commercial nurseries who
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specialize in small shrubs and flowers for marketing to
florists in Guelph. Vegetable and strawberry crops are con-
fined to a few places in the township covering only a few
acres.
(f) Idle Lend

Land which can be called idle is often difficult to
clessify because it may actually be used for some purpose
which is not obvious to the viewer (i.e., fallow land).
Therefore, my criteria for idle land was: land which had
small scrubby trees and tall weeds growing on it, and which
had clearly not been used for agricultural purposes, for one
reason or another, for the past few years. It was found
that this category has its greatest occurrence on the poor-
ly drained land of the township.

(g) Woodland and_ Swamps

Included in this classification are forested areas,
scrubland, and swamps. As can be seen by comparing the Land
Use Map (Map 10) with the Pleistocene Geology Map (Map 5)
the woodland cover of the township has its greatest dis-
tribution in the former spillway channels.

According to the Speed Conservation Report the area of

woodland in 1953 was 7,849 acres. Of this 3,749 acres or
48% was used as grazing land by the owners. Only 606 acres
were fenced off. The majority of farmers in the township do
not take adequate care of their woodlots, as recommended by
the Conservation Authority, and many ignore their woodlots

entirely.
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(h) Reforestation

Reforestation, while not important in the township,
has made great strides in the past 10 years on the poorer
quality laend, thanks to the work of the Grand Valley Con-
servation Authority and its reforestation assistance pro-
gram. In 1954 the Authority purchased a 100 acre tract of
land at Concession IV, Lot 19E3 and reforested it with
Scotch pine and other species of conifers. Along Highway 7
in the Second Concession a demonstration plantation was
planted in 1925 by the Ontario Department of Highways. Tall
Scotch pines now border the highway along this section.
Recently, two Christmas tree farms have been established,
under private management, on land that was recommended by
the Authority for reforestation.

(j) Other Categories

On the land use map are shown urban, recreational, and
quarry categories. These will be discussed in greater de-

tail in the next chapter on urban land use.

2. Types of Farming

(a) Introduction

Eramosa Township can be classified as a mixed live-
stock farming area. The term mixed is used to indicate that
the source of income for farmers usually derives from more
than one type of livestock. IFew cash crops are grown in the
township. The livestock that predominates in Eramosa is

cattle. Practically every farmer in the township has at
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least a few head of cattle, while a few have up to 100 head
of cattle. The cattle are of two kinds, dairy cattle and
beef cattle. The majority of farmers specialize in either
dairy farming or beef farming. Hogs and poultry raising are
commonly combined with cattle farming. Sheep raising is of
importance on a few farms only.

(b) Number, Productivity end Size of_ Farms

The total number of farms listed in the 1961 Census for
Eramosa was 295, while the total number of commercial farms
was 237. A commnercial farm i1s a category used by the Census
to indicate a farm whose total value of products sold is
$1,200 a year or greater. This is a useful category as it
indicates fairly well the number of farms into which some
effort is made to make money by farming the land. In 1951
the total number of farms in Eramosa was listed at 299, while
the total number of commercial farms was 262. Thus’in a ten
year period from 1951 to 1961 there was a drop of 4 in the
number of farms in the township, but a drop of 25 in the
number of commercial farms.

The distribution of income by farms is not given on a
township basis in the Census, but is given on a county basis.
Assuming that the same trend would apply in Eramosa Township
as in Wellington County, it is found that in the ten year
period from 1951 to 1961, there was an increase from 2.1 to
10.1 in the percentage of farms whose value of products sold
in a year was greater than $l5,000, and that there was an

increase from 3.7% to 9.9% in the $10,000 to $14,999 range.
- 3
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farmer. Yet the number of farms under 70 acres increased
from 23 to 32 in the period from 1951 to 1961. This increase
is accounted for by farmers who have decided they cannot

make an adequate income from full-time farming and have sold
part of their land and become part-time farmers.

Some of this land that is sold by persons going out of
full-time farming is bought by more prosperous neighbours
who want to increase their own farming base. Thus, in the
period from 1951 to 1961, the number of farms which are larg-
er than 240 acres in size, increased from 21 to 30. This is
all part of a trend towards larger sized farms which has been
necessitated by the desire to remain economically competative
with the use of more and more labour saving techniques which
enables a farmer to effectively operate a larger farm.

(¢) Areas of Dairy and Beef Farming

As dairy and beef farming are of prime importance in
the economy of the township, I have plotted on a map (see
Map 11 on page 73) the areas where dairy farms and where
beef farms tend to be located. This has been done ignoring
all other types of livestock ferms and other combinations
of livestock with the cattle. The reason for doing this was
to see if there was any pattern in the concentration of
farms of one type in ean area and, if positive, to see if
there were any apparent reasons for these concentrations.

As can be seen on the map, dairy farms seem to be chiefly
located in a section running N.W.-S.E. through the centre of

the township with areas of beef farms on either side. The
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dairy belt also shows a widening out in the area around
Rockwood. It must not be assumed that all farms in the
dairy belt are dairy farms, or that in the beef areas all
farms are beef farms. This map just shows the dominance
of types.

It was found that in the majority of cases it is up to
e farmer's personal taste whether he is a beef farmer or a
deiry farmer. However, there does seem to be a slight tend-
ency for dairy farms to be located on the better classes of
land, while beef farms tend to have a slightly greater occur-
rence on rougher land. It is also possible that the longi-
tudenal area of dairy farms corresponds to the fact that the
Fifth Line is a good paved county road and thus enables
dairy products to have good access to markets.

At the present time there seems to be about an equal
number of beef farms in the township as there are dairy
ferms, but it appears that beef farming is increasing in
popularity year by year. In the ten year period from 1951
to 1961 dairy cattle showed a 29% increase in numbers to
2,410, while there was a 41% increase to 9,117 in the total
number of cattle. It must be assumed that beef cattle re-
corded a greater increase than dairy cattle in order to
make up the 41% overall increase of cattle.

(d) Examples of Farming Types

It is difficult to generalize the farm economy of
Eramosa other than saying it is a miXed livestock farming

area, ror each farmer tends to have a different livestock
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raising operation than his neighbour. Although the
majority of farmers are either in dairy or the beef business,
they do not all have the same number of cattle, nor do they
have the same kind and number of what is often a secondary
line of livestock such as hogs, poultry and sheep. Also
there are separations of farm types on whether it is a full-
time operation or just a part-time operation. In order to
give an insight into what some of the various farm oper-
ations are like, I shall give a few eXamples as gathered
from interviews with the farm operators concerned. This
might also help to point out some of the problems in the
farm economy.

(1) Dairy Farming

An example of a prosperous dairy farm is found just
north of Rockwood on the Fifth Line. This farm is located
on an area of Guelph loam and is 200 acres in size.

Another 100 acres, located a few farms away, is rented from
a retired farmer. The practice of renting land from other
Tarmers, in order to increase the size of an effective farm
unit, seems to be quite common in the township. On the 200
acre farm there are 60 acres of mixed grains (oats and
barley), 10 acres of corn, 60 acres of hay, 30 acres of
pasture and 40 acres of woodland. The 100 acres of rented
land is used prinecipally to grow grains. On the farm there
are 40 milking cows (all Holsteins) out of a total of 70
head of cattle.

This farm has a fluid milk contract with Acme Farmers
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Dairy Ltd. in Toronto, who come every two days to pick up
the milk from his bulk cooler. It should be noted that the
entire township is in the Toronto milkshed (a milkshed is a
region furnishing milk to a particular community) besides
being in the Guelph milkshed. This particular farmer would
like to ship his milk to Guelph, but he has not been able to
get a fluid milk contract there. The reason he would prefer
to ship his milk to Guelph is the fact that the dairy farmers
themselves pay for the cost of shipping milk to a dairy, and
as Guelph is much cloger than Toronto he would save 20¢ per
hundred weight in shipping fees. But the fluid milk market
of Guelph is only limited and cannot possibly serve all the
dairy ferms in the district, and therefore, milk is shipped
to Ontario's largest urban market where there is a demand
for 1it.

Although he is primarily a dairy farmer, this farmer
does have another minor specialty. This is the raising of
turkeys of which he has approximately 150 to 175.

Another example of a dairy farm is found in the First
Concession just north of Highway 24. This farm is 100
acres in size of which 25 acres is in mixed grains, 25
acres in hay, 10 acres in corn, 6 acres in wheat, 4 acres
in peas, and 30 acres in pasture. In this case there are
34 milking cows, (like most dairy cattle in the township
they are Holsteins), out of a total of 60 head of cattle.
The milk is marketed, in cans, to the Homewood Saniterium

in Guelph. On this farm there are also about 50 hogs, and
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these are marketed in Toronto.

(ii) Beef Farming

An example of a part-time beef farm operation is found
in the First Concession, south of Highway 7. This farm,
located on Guelph loam, is 150 acres in size with 35 acres
in mixed grains, 95 acres in hay and the remaining acreage
in pasture. On this farm there are 66 head of beef cattle,
the majority of which are Herefords. In this particular
instance the cattle are bought young and then fattened for
about a year before being marketed in Toronto. A few
chickens are kept for egg production.

Another beef farm is located on the Sixth Line, north
of Highwey 24. This farm is different from the one mention-
ed above because hogs are an important secondary source of
income. This particular farm is 200 acres in size of which
30 acres are in mixed grains, 50 acres in corn, 40 acres in
hay, and the rest in pasture. The farmer raises Hereford
steers which he fattens before marketing them in Toronto.
On the farm are about 150 hogs, which are also marketed in
Toronto.

A unique type of beef farm in the township is that
located in the Second Concession south of Highway 24. Here,
the vast majority of a 150 acre farm is given over to the
growing of corn, which is used to fatten steers in a modern
farm complex. This farm is owned by a meat packing company

executive in Toronto, and was just established a year ago.
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On dairy and beef farms, hogs, sheep, poultry and
horses sometimes play an importent part as a source of in-
come on many of the farms in Eramosa. There are even a few
farms which depend entirely on hogs or poultry or horses,
and so these forms of livestock must not be overlooked.

There are very few farms which specialize in hogs.
Hogs, however, are a common combination with beef cattle in
Eramosa. There are very few dairy farmers who raise hogs.
One reason for this, advanced by a farmer in the township
is that dairies are quite fussy about the cleanliness of the
milk they receive and they do not encourage a farmer to
raise hogs if he is in the fluid milk business. Another
reason is that a dairy herd requires more work than a beef
herd (i.e., dairy cows have to be milked twice a day), and,
therefore a beef farmer is able to teke on extra work,
such as raising hogs, easier than a dairy farmer. The reis-
ing of hogs as & supplement to farm income is more popu-
lar at present than it ever has been in the past due in part
to the increasing demand for pork in the urban markets. In
1961 there were 8,158 hogs in the township, nearly double
the 1931 total of 4,332.

Sheep are raised by only a few farmers in the township
and in all cases it is in conjunction with beef farming.

The same reasons why hogs are more common with beef cattle,
seems to hold true also for sheep. But sheep raising seems

to be a dying industry in the township. In the 30 year
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period from 1931 to 1961 the number of sheep have dropped
from 5,156 to 1,719. Basically the raising of sheep in the
township seems to be largely a traditional holdover by the
descendants of some of the original Scottish settlers. To=-
day sheep are grown primarily for meat production, not for
their wool.

Poultry is a common occurrence on many Eramosa farms,
and some farmers specialize in it. Mainly hens and chickens
are raised. In the 10 year period from 1951 to 1961 there
was a 41% increase in their number (58,259 to 72,287).
Poultry in Eramosa is raised both for egg production and
for their meat. There is only one case in Eramosa where a
farmer depends entirely on poultry for a living. This is
a modern "egg producing plant"™ loceted at the intersection
of the Sixth Line and Highway 24.

Horses have decreased tremendously in number in the
last 20 years. In 1941 there were 1,325 horses on Eramosa
farms, while in 1961 there were only 290. This is the
result of mechanization of farm work. At present about
six farms in the township are raising horses and ponies.

These are mainly for riding and for show purposes.

e e et s e S S B bt e et et S ot

A word or two should be said about part-time farm
operations in the township as they make up a fairly import-
ant minority of the total number of farmers. The majority
of these operations are small, usually being under 70 acres,

but there are a few instances where fair sized farms are
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3l. A typical group of farm buildings in Eramosa. There
is the old, well-built limestone farmhouse, with a
sturdy barn. Rall fences remain fairly common in

the township.

Fences made of stones removed from fields are common
on the bouldery Dumfries loam. This one is located
at Lot 1Es, Concession 4.
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in Eramosa.

33. A typical farm scene on Guelph loam
Note the old apple orchard which is now being used

to pasture beef cattle.

Concession 2, contradictory

34. This woodland at Lot 28Wj,
to good conservation practice, is being used as
pasture, allowing cattle to kill off the young under-

brush.



35, A grain crop has just been harvesteg off this field
located on a kame deposit at Lot 3Eg, Concession 3.

2

36. Rough kame topography in the north-east of the town-
ship which was taken out of farm use and has been
reforested.
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39, Holstein dairy cows found at Lot 21W5, Concession 4.

40. Beef cattle found at Lot 23W5, Concession 2.
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41. A flock of sheep found at Lot 26W3, Concession 6.

42 . A bouldery, poor quality pasture field located on
outwash gravel at Lot 24Ez, Concession 7.
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PRESENT URBAN LAND USE

Eramosa is primarily a rural township. There are no
incorporated villages or towns in the township, yet 54.7% of
the total 1961 population did not live on farms. The major-
ity of the non-farm population live in the only settlements
that could be called urban. These are the police villages
of Rockwood and Eden Mills, and the hamlet of Everton, all
located on mill sites on the Eramosa River. The remainder
of the non=-farm population live in scattered suburban devel=-
opments that have been estaeblished in the township in

recent years.

1. Rockwood

Rockwood is a police village of 800 acres, comprising
the east halves of Lots 3, 4, 5 and 6 in the Fourth Con-
cession, and the west halves of Lots 3, 4, 5 and 6 in the
Fifth Concession. In 1962 the village had a population of
823 which is a drop from 863 in 1961.

The Eramosa River divides Rockwood into two sections,
with the northern section having the majority of people and
nearly all the commercial and industrial functions. The
village has not grown greatly for the past 80 years. In the
past decade there have been only about 25 new houses con-

structed, and most of these were built in the northern

section.
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The commercial distriet of Rockwood is typical for a
small southern Ontario village. Spread out along the north-
ern side of Main St. are a bank, hardware store, farm
machinery store, bakery, butcher, grocery store, and barber
shop. There are also a number of stores which are empty.
Four service stations are located on Highway 7, which makes
a 90° turn in the centre of the village.

Rockwood has 4 churches (Anglican, Presbyterian, Roman
Catholic, and United) and an eight room public school. As
there is no high school in the township, pupils are trans-
ported by bus to a high school in Guelph. The Eramosa Town-
ship office is also located in Rockwood.

There are no large industrial plants in Rockwood, in
fact there are only 4 small operations which could be termed
industrial. These are the Rockwood Lime Company, Stag
Lubricant Company, Schneider's Sweets, and Hortop's Feed
Mill.

The largest industry is the Rockwood Lime Company,
located on the northern outskirts of the village. The
company at the present time employs from 12 to 19 men and
produces & high quality lime that is sold to building con-
tractors in the Guelph area. The lime is made from lime-
stone which is quarried on the premises and processed in a
modern lime kiln.

Located beside the C.N.R. track, and employing six

people, is the Stag Lubricant Company. This company came
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to Rockwood in 1958 and set up shop in an old C.N.R. freight
shed. The company makes gun cleaning equipment and aluminum
fish nets, which it markets all across Canada.

Employing about 10 people, and located across from the
park on Main St. is Schneider's Sweets. This is a candy
factory which markets its product in about a 50 mile radius
around Rockwood. The bullding in which it is located has
had a varied life. It was originally a one-storey skating
rink, and then two more stories were added to turn it into
a battery factory. This enterprise was short-lived. It then
became & tire boot and patch factory, and a dence hall before
Schneider's took it over after World War II.

The oldest industry in Rockwood is Hortop's Feed Lill,
located beside the Eramosa River. This was formerly an im-
portant industry in the town, but now it employs only 2
men, who chop up grain into feed and sell it to local farm-
ers. This mill is still operated on the original water
power, and is now in fact the only industrial user of the
Eramosa River, which was such an important locational
factor in the early days. All the other early mills, such
as the saw and woollen mills, went out of business years ago.

A recent development in Rockwood has been the purchase
of a section of land to the south-west of the village by the
Grand Valley Conservation Authority. The Authority has
begun to develop this land as a park, and there are even

plans to restore the old woollen mill which has been
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deserted for about 40 or 50 years, as a tourist attraction.
This is a natural site for a park with its many fine stands
of trees and massive limestone outcrops. A millpond created
by damming the river many years ago now provides an excellent
site for swimming.

There are two other smaller parks in Rockwood; one
located along the Eramosa River on Main St. and the other,

a ball park, located back of Balaclava 3t.

As can be gathered from the above descriptions, Rock-
wood does not offer a great deal of employment opportunities
for 1ts citizens. ihat then do the majority of its people
do? Some of them are retired farmers who have sold their
farms and have moved to Rockwood, but the vast majority are
commuters who work in Guelph, Acton, and even as far away as
Oakville. Thus, Rockwood serves as a dormitory suburb for
these centres.

The village has little influence upon its surronding
hinterland. The trading area of its stores and of its bank
is limited to about a radius of a few miles around Rockwood.
It is because of the closeness to Guelph that Rockwood did
not develop into a very influential commercial centre. The
surrounding faerm population, and even the majority of the
residents of Rockwood, find it convenient to do a great deal
of their shopping in Guelph where the number and variety of
goods 1is much greater. Contributing to this tendency is the

great number of people who work in Guelph. Thus, the
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commercial function of Rockwood is principally to serve the
every day needs of the local inhabitants. The result is
that residents of the northern half of the township seldom
visit Rockwood, except perhaps to pay their taxes, as they
find it much more convenient to satisfy their needs in

Guelph or even in Fergus.

2. Eden Mills

Eden Mills is a police village which is located on the
boundary of two townships (Eramosa and Nassagaweya) and two
counties (Wellington and Halton). Situated on the Eramosa
River, the village is 500 acres in size with 300 acres in
Eramosa. The total population of Eden Mills in 1961 was
288, with 171 people living in the Eremosa section of the
village. The Eramosa part of the village contains the en-
tire commercial and industrial function of Eden Mills.

The village has 2 general stores, a combination
service station and coffee shop, a saw mill, a United Church
and a village hall (formerly the old public school).
Located to the east on the Second Line is a modern public
school which serves the surrounding area in Eramosa Town-
ship.

The only industry in the village is a saw mill, which
was converted from a grist mill around 1934. The mill em=-
ploys 3 men, making baskets and boxes which are sold in

market gardening areas such as Burlington and the Holland

Mersh. This mill is still operated by water power, but

94



ERAMOSA TOWNSHIP =\
NASGSAGAWEYA TOowNSHIP

O

EDE e S

SCALE

IINCH TO 200 YARDS

HOUSE
CHURCH

GENERAL STORE
HALL

SERVICE STATION
ML

95

( APPROX)

MAP |4



when the water level becomes too low the saw is operated
from the power take-off on a tractor.

There has not been a great deal of new building in Eden
Mills in the last few years, as it is rather out of the way,
although it does have good road connections to Guelph. The
majority of buildings are over 50 years old and there are
many stone buildings in Eden Mills considered to be fine
examples of Scottish masonry.

The majority of the home owners in Eden Mills commute
to work in Guelph and the majority of people do their
shopping and banking there as well. Although Rockwood is
only 2% miles away, Eden Mills is out of the effective

influence of that centre.

3. Everton

Everton is a small hamlet of about 80 people located
on the Seventh Line where it crosses the Eramosa River. The
river divides the hamlet in two parts. The larger northern
section is often called Stewart Survey and the smaller
southern section, Everton Survey.

Everton is at present only a shadow of its former
self. Today there are no stores in the hamlet and the only
industry is Hortop's Flour Mill which employs one man. This
mill still operates on the original water power all year
around, turning out flour which is sold to bread companies
in Toronto. The saw mill was abandoned in the late 1950's

because of the lack of business.
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There is one church in Everton at the present time,
and just on the southern outskirts of the hamlet there is a
Boy Scout Camp which operates in the summer.

The primary function of Everton at the present time is
to serve as a dormitory suburb for people who work in
centres such as Guelph and Acton. The majority of the
people shop and bank where they work. Everton does not

have any new housing and is at present pretty well stagnant.

4, suburban Development

In 1961 there were 579 people or 18.7% of the total
population of Eramosa who did not live on farms, yet lived
outside of Rockwood, Eden Mills and Everton. This is large-
ly the result of suburban development which has taken place
on the main roads of the township in the period since the
end of World Wear II.

Highway 24 seems to be the road most affected by this
recent settlement trend, especilally the area around the
small hamlet of Eramosa, where the Second Line intersects
Highway 24. In the Census of 1956 this hamlet had a pop-
ulation of 47 while in 1961 it had risen to 72. This in-
crease 1s the result of new houses having been built along
the highway.

Similar suburban development has taken place along
Highway 7, the Second Line and the Fifth Line. TFor the
most part the home owners are people who work in Guelph but
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